FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 5/3/2018 3:40 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/11/2018 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

95827-1

NO. 346714

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

MONICA DIAZ BARRIGA FIGUEROA, AS PARENT AND NATURAL GUARDIAN OF BRAYAN MARTINEZ, A MINOR,

Appellant,

v.

CONSUELO PRIETO MARISCAL,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Joseph D. Hampton, WSBA #15297 Michelle E. Kierce, WSBA #48051 Attorney for Respondent Consuelo Prieto Mariscal Betts Patterson & Mines One Convention Place, Suite 1400 701 Pike Street Seattle WA 98101-3927 Telephone: (206) 292-9988 Facsimile: (206) 343-7053

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Consuelo Prieto Mariscal ("Ms. Prieto"), Defendant below and Respondent on appeal, petitions the Supreme Court for review of the published decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, designated in Part, II pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Barriga Figueroa v. Prieto Mariscal, ___ Wn. App. ___, 414 P.3d 590, (No. 34671-4-III), filed April 3, 2018 ("Decision"), (Korsmo, J., dissenting) ("Dissent"). A copy is in the Appendix.

III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should this Court accept review, under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) or (4), of these errors by the Court of Appeals: (1) concluding an application for benefits qualified as work product even though it was not prepared in anticipation of litigation, but contained no confidential information and was admittedly prepared in the normal course of business, and (2) not holding the admission of the application was harmless because the same evidence was admitted from other sources and plaintiff below did in fact present refuting evidence?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Brayan Martinez Gave Two Inconsistent Statements Regarding the Events Leading up to the Underlying Accident

On October 23, 2013, Ms. Prieto was driving her minivan down a residential street in Pasco. Her teenage daughter was a passenger. Vehicles were parked on the right side of the street, including an orange

pickup truck. As she passed it, she heard a noise and felt a bump on the right side. She saw Brayan Martinez ("Brayan"), son of Monica Diaz Barriga Figueroa ("Ms. Diaz") lying in the street behind her car, injured. Ms. Prieto's daughter called 911 and the police arrived. VRP 279.

After interviewing Ms. Prieto, her daughter, and possibly a neighbor, the police prepared a report stating that Brayan had ridden his bike from between two parked cars and into the roadway immediately prior to being struck by the minivan. CP 304-5. Later, Brayan told Ms. Diaz's accident reconstruction expert the same story when they first met at the accident scene. It was also consistent with the original complaint, filed by Ms. Diaz for Brayan. But in deposition, Brayan's account of the accident changed markedly. He said that his shoelace became tangled in his bike chain and that, while attempting to untangle the shoelace, he had extended his right leg out into the street for three to four minutes prior to being struck by the minivan. This revised story surfaced in the amended complaint. CP 2, 12, 379-86.

B. Ms. Diaz Signed a Blank Form that was Later Submitted to Obtain PIP Benefits for Brayan from Ms. Prieto's Insurer

On November 21, 2013, Ms. Diaz met with her lawyers' legal assistant and signed a blank form application for personal injury protection ("PIP") benefits for Brayan. See Exh. D101. Because Brayan was injured as a pedestrian, his PIP claim was made upon Ms. Prieto's auto

¹ The application, admitted as Exhibit D101, was not part of the original record on appeal. The Court of Appeals wrote to counsel requesting a copy. The copy of D101 was provided. However, it is a redacted copy of the original.

insurance policy.² VRP 120-1; *see* RCW 48.22.085(b)(ii). So, the parties did <u>not</u> "hav[e] the same insurance company." Decision at 4, n.1.

The legal assistant filled out the form later. To describe the accident, she simply copied from the police report. VRP 469-71. This is apparently Ms. Diaz's counsel's regular practice. VRP 478. The legal assistant wrote:

Vehicle was traveling on North Cedar when child on a bike rode into road. There were 2 parked cars on the road creating a blinde [sic] spot for the driver. Child was struck and had right leg ran over.

The form was submitted to Ms. Prieto's insurer and PIP benefits were paid for Brayan's medical expenses. VRP 12-13.

C. Procedural History

1. Suit filing; defense verdict at trial; appeal

On May 6, 2014, Ms. Diaz filed this suit, alleging that the accident occurred while Brayan "was riding a bicycle[.]" CP 1, 2. On January 25, 2016, Ms. Diaz filed an Amended Complaint, changing the allegations to state that Brayan was <u>not</u> riding the bicycle. CP 12.

The case was tried in June, 2016. VRP 1. At trial, Ms. Diaz argued that the PIP application was a "privileged document" that should be excluded. VRP 120. The trial court admitted the PIP application with redactions of insurance information, finding it was not a privileged

² That the insurer was Ms. Prieto's is patent from the face of the unredacted PIP application. The unredacted version is not in the record; only the redacted version (D101) is. Ms. Prieto offers to provide the unredacted version promptly on request.

document and, in its redacted form, did not violate the collateral source rule. VRP 135. Ms. Diaz and the legal assistant testified that the accident description in the PIP application was not Ms. Diaz's testimony. VRP 299; VRP 469-70.

The jury returned a defense verdict on liability. VRP 627. Ms. Diaz moved for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and for a new trial. CP 540-58. She argued the PIP application should not have been admitted because the statement of the accident it contained was made with an expectation of confidentiality; therefore *Harris v. Drake*, 152 Wn.2d 480, 99 P.3d 872 (2004), compelled its exclusion. VRP July 11, 2016, 5-7.

But there is nothing in the record suggesting that Ms. Diaz, Brayan, or their lawyers had an "expectation of confidentiality" over the application's content. See VRP 119-24 (colloquy), 124-30 (Diaz testimony), 469-71 (legal assistant testimony). In fact, the application was submitted to Ms. Prieto's insurer, not Ms. Diaz's. VRP 12-13.

The Court denied the motion but did not make any findings as to whether the PIP application was work product. VRP 14. The Court found only that the PIP application was admissible under the evidence rules because it contained a prior inconsistent statement. VRP July 11, 2016, 8-12, 14. Ms. Diaz appealed.

2. Ms. Diaz argued on appeal that the PIP application was confidential work product

Ms. Diaz identified six assignments of error. Assignment of Error 1 contended that the PIP application's admission violated hearsay and work product rules. Brief of Plaintiff-Appellant at 1. Ms. Diaz stated the corresponding issue as "whether a Plaintiff's PIP application completed by a Plaintiff's attorney's office is privileged and/or work product." *Id.* at 3.

Ms. Diaz argued that she had a reasonable expectation that the PIP application would be kept confidential because she was contractually obligated to complete the PIP form to obtain benefits. *Id.* at 12. But just as she failed to provide the trial court with any evidence of that supposed expectation, she cited nothing in the appellate record, either. Ms. Diaz also argued that because PIP is a no-fault coverage, the statement of the accident provided on the PIP application was a mere formality and the accuracy of the statement had no bearing on coverage. *Id.* at 20-21.

Ms. Prieto argued that the PIP application was not work product because there was no proof in the record that the description of the accident was given in anticipation of litigation. Brief of Defendant-Respondent at 12. Further, Ms. Prieto pointed out that the work product protection does not apply to documents prepared in the normal course of business (*id.*), which is precisely how Ms. Diaz's lawyers admittedly process PIP applications. VRP 478.

3. Court of Appeals erroneously held that the PIP application should have been deemed work product

The Court of Appeals majority affirmed the trial court's ruling that the PIP application was not hearsay. However, proceeding to address whether the PIP application qualified as work product,³ the majority concluded that the trial court erred when it declined to give work protections to the PIP application. Decision at 11.

The majority decision did not address the threshold question of whether the PIP application was prepared in anticipation of litigation, which is the test built into CR 26(b)(4) and the prior decisions of this Court. Indeed, there was no evidence in the trial court record as to whether the document was prepared in anticipation of litigation.⁴ Further, the majority did not engage in any analysis as to whether the PIP application may have been prepared in the ordinary course of business. Finally, the majority merely assumed an "expectation of confidentiality" existed, without evidence to support that proposition. Decision at 11.

Instead, the majority isolated its conclusion that Ms. Diaz had a contractual obligation to cooperate with the PIP insurer, which included an obligation to complete the PIP application, in order to obtain benefits. *Id.*. The court analogized this contractual obligation to the contractual

³ The dissent said that the majority should not have decided the issue in the first instance, due to the insufficient record, assignment of error, and briefing. The dissent also disagreed with the majority's ruling on the work product issue. Ms. Preito agrees; beyond the items identified by the dissent, the unredacted application that Ms. Diaz signed is not in the record.

⁴ The Court of Appeals also did not call for additional written argument on the work product issue, as it could have under RAP 12.1(b).

obligation of a PIP insured to submit to an IME, as discussed in *Harris v*. *Drake*, *supra*. *Id*. It did not acknowledge the fact that Ms. Diaz had no relationship with Ms. Prieto's insurer when she signed the PIP application.

Relying only upon *Harris*, the majority reasoned that because it believed Ms. Diaz had a contractual obligation to cooperate with the PIP insurer in order to obtain benefits, she had a reasonable expectation that her PIP application would be kept confidential. *Id.* On this presumption alone, the Court of Appeals held that the PIP application was confidential work product. *Id.*

The majority decision's finding that the PIP application was "privileged" (a misnomer) cannot be reconciled with the existing applications of CR 26(b)(4) or this Court's prior holdings. The majority should have affirmed the trial court and concluded that work product protection did not attach to the PIP application because it failed to: recognize that the PIP application was not, in fact, prepared in anticipation of litigation; examine the specific parties and their intentions as required by *Heidebrink v. Moriwaki*, 104 Wn.2d 392, 706 P.2d 212 (1985); realize that Ms. Diaz could not have formed an expectation of confidentiality over the content of the application because she signed the form in blank; or recognize that the applicability of *Harris* is, on its face, limited to PIP IME reports and the testimony of the PIP physician. Further, the decision effectively expanded *Harris* and work production protection to cover all statements made by a claimant to a PIP insurer, regardless of whether such

statements were made in anticipation of litigation, and it does so in a decision supported by an insufficient record.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Court of Appeals Erroneously Held the PIP Application to be Work Product, Contrary to *Heidebrink v. Moriwaki*

The majority erroneously held that the PIP application qualifies as confidential work product. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because Division III engaged in an improper and incomplete analysis when it failed to establish that the document was prepared in anticipation of litigation or look at the specific parties and their expectations as required by *Heidebrink*, *supra*.

CR 26(b)(4) sets forth the general rule governing work product, which is that documents *prepared in anticipation of litigation* are discoverable upon a showing of substantial need. *See also, e.g., Richardson v. Government Employees Ins. Co.*, 200 Wn. App. 705, 712, 403 P.3d 115 (2017). The work product doctrine provides only a qualified immunity from discovery. *Harris*, 152 Wn.2d at 486. This Court has previously held that facts remain discoverable even though they may be embodied in a protected document or conversation. *Matter of Firestorm 1991*, 129 Wn.2d 130, 141, 916 P.2d 411 (1996) (citing 4 Lewis H. Orland & Karl B. Tegland, Wash. Prac., *Rules Practice*, at 34 (4th ed. 1992) (fact that investigation was performed and observations of personnel who participated in the investigation disclosed by expert were not work product); *see also Soter v. Cowles Pub. Co.*, 162 Wn.2d 716, 747-48, 174

P.3d 60 (2007) (pictures and hand-sketched map of incident location drawn by investigator is "ordinary work product" subject to disclosure upon a showing of substantial need). Only "opinion work product," meaning the mental impressions, notes, and strategies of an attorney enjoy a nearly absolute immunity. *Soter*, 131 Wn. App. at 894.

The party seeking protection has the burden to show the materials qualify as work product. *Lindstrom v. Ladenburg,* 136 Wn.2d 595, 612, 963 P.2d 869 (1998); *see also Guillen v. Pierce County,* 144 Wn.2d 696, 716, 31 P.3d 628 (2001), *rev'd in part, Pierce County v. Guillen,* 537 U.S. 129, 123 S. Ct. 720 (2003) (burden of showing a privilege applies in any given situation rests entirely upon the entity asserting the privilege). Under *Heidebrink,* a court must examine the specific parties and their expectations to determine whether material was prepared in anticipation of litigation and thus qualifies as work product. *Heidebrink,* 104 Wn.2d. at 400. Courts do not apply the doctrine in the abstract. *Overlake Fund v. City of Bellevue,* 60 Wn. App. 787, 795, 810 P.2d 507, 511 (1991).

In *Heidebrink*, an investigator hired by Mr. Moriwaki's liability insurance carrier tape recorded his statement after a cloud of smoke from burning grain stubble in his field allegedly caused an accident on the adjacent roadway. *Heidebrink*, 104 Wn.2d. at 394. Mrs. Heidebrink and another motorist were involved in the collision. Several months later, the Heidebrinks sued and subsequently sought discovery of the tape-recorded statement. In looking at the specific parties and their expectations as to the tape-recorded statement, this Court observed that the case involved

statements by a defendant in a third-party liability situation, where litigation was to be expected following an automobile accident. *Id.* at 400. Therefore, this Court held that the statement was protected from discovery under what is now CR 26(b)(4). *Id.* at 401.

However, this Court declined to broadly apply the work product protection to all insurer investigations, as "it is not hard to imagine insurers mechanically forming their practices so as to make all documents appear to be prepared in anticipation of litigation." *Id.* at 400 (internal quotations omitted). Again, the threshold criterion for allotment of work product protection is preparation of the document in anticipation of litigation. *Id.* at 396.

Here, the majority failed to examine the specific circumstances surrounding the application as required by *Heidebrink* to determine whether the application was prepared in anticipation of litigation. The record below is clear that Ms. Diaz did not herself complete the PIP application and signed it before it was complete. The record is also clear that the statement of the accident provided in the PIP application was apparently not what Ms. Diaz believed to be true at the time, and that if Ms. Diaz knew what the legal assistant had wrote she would not have signed the application. Further, it is undisputed that the insurer in question was Ms. Prieto's insurer, and Brayan could make a PIP claim simply because he was struck as a pedestrian. *See* RCW 48.22.085(b)(i). He had no relationship with the insurer prior to submitting the PIP application. Indeed, there could be no duty to cooperate in an investigation until after

the document was prepared and submitted. Thus, the specific circumstances of this case and the parties' statements demonstrate that there was no anticipation of litigation.

Notwithstanding, the majority held that the application was confidential work product. In making this determination, the majority summarily concluded that Ms. Diaz had a contractual obligation to cooperate with the PIP insurer, which included an obligation to complete the PIP application, and therefore had a reasonable expectation the PIP application would be kept confidential. Of course, no contractual relationship or obligations existed between Ms. Diaz (or Brayan) and the PIP insurer at the time the PIP application was prepared. The contrary proposition adopted by the majority is not supported by the record, and the Court of Appeals unfortunately did not call for additional briefing on the issue. Very simply, the court did not analyze the specific parties and their expectations, or the relationship between Ms. Diaz and the PIP insurer, all as required by *Heidebrink*.

Further, the majority failed to analyze, let alone mention, whether the PIP application was prepared in anticipation of litigation, publishing a decision granting work product protection over an innocuous PIP application based on an insufficient record and without answering the applicable threshold question. Thus, the decision erroneously applied the work product doctrine in the abstract, without properly analyzing the parties and their expectations, contrary to *Heidebrink*.

B. The PIP Application was Prepared in the Normal Course of Business and Ms. Diaz had no Expectation of Confidentiality

The majority failed to recognize that the PIP application was prepared in the normal course of business and was, therefore, not work product. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) because Division III contradicts the rule of *Escalante* and this Court's decision in *Morgan*, *infra*. If the majority had analyzed whether the PIP application was prepared in anticipation of litigation, it should have concluded that the PIP form was merely filled out in the normal course of plaintiff's counsel's business, as shown by the record and Ms. Diaz's appellate briefing.

Work product protection does not apply to documents prepared in the normal course of business. *Escalante v. Sentry Ins. Co.*, 49 Wn. App. 375, 395, 743 P.2d 832 (1987). As Division III has previously explained, "the business records exception prevents parties from exploiting the work product rule by adopting routine practices whereby all documents appear to be prepared in anticipation of litigation." *Soter*, 131 Wn. App. at 896 (internal quotations omitted). Further, the court noted that "of course, merely turning such records over to counsel does not make them work product." *Id.* at 882.

In her appellate brief below, Ms. Diaz argued that "the statement provided on the PIP application was merely a formality that contractually needed to be provided in order to obtain PIP benefits...." Brief of Plaintiff-Appellant at 20. She further admitted that the PIP application is

"normally filled out very early in the process," and that "the statements in the PIP application were never intended to be adopted" *Id.* at 21. These admissions show her expectations and demonstrate that the application was an innocuous, routinely-prepared piece of paperwork that was submitted without care or attention in order to claim PIP coverage. These facts are even less compelling than those in *Morgan v. City of Federal Way*, 166 Wn.2d 747, 213 P.3d 596 (2009), where the City of Federal way hired an attorney to prepare an investigation into claims of hostile work environment. At the time, no litigation was threatened or anticipated as to these claims. *Id.* at 755. Rather, the investigation was prompted by the City's antiharassment policy requiring investigation into any such claim. *Id.* This Court held that the attorney investigation was conducted per the policy and had a remedial purpose, therefore it was neither prepared in anticipation of litigation nor protected by the work product doctrine. *Id.*

Similarly, Ms. Diaz could not have reasonably anticipated litigation with Ms. Prieto's PIP insurer over PIP coverage when she signed the blank form. The process Ms. Diaz followed to sign and submit the form to the PIP insurer is even less anticipatory of litigation than the investigation performed pursuant to policy in *Morgan*. It is certainly less anticipatory of litigation than the second PIP IME ordered by the insurer in *Harris* for the purpose of limiting benefits to its insured. There is no indication in the record that Ms. Diaz threatened or anticipated litigation

against the PIP insurer. In fact, quite the opposite, as Ms. Diaz admitted on appeal that coverage was automatic as long as the claim was opened.

The majority erroneously failed to recognize that the PIP application was not prepared in anticipation of litigation, but rather in the normal course of business, especially in light of the admissions of Ms. Diaz and her lawyers.

C. The Court of Appeals Misunderstood the Rationale Behind the Expectation of Confidentiality found in *Heidebrink* and *Harris*

In holding that the PIP application was protected work product because Ms. Diaz had a reasonable expectation of confidentiality, the majority misunderstood the rationale behind such expectation. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because Division III misunderstands *Heidebrink* and *Harris*. The reason for preparing the PIP application in this case is incongruent with the rationales articulated in *Heidebrink* and *Harris* as to the expectation of confidentiality, where the expectation of confidentiality held by the insured arises out of the insurer's expectation of candid disclosure.

In *Heidebrink*, the defendant was speaking to an investigator hired by his liability insurer for the purpose of determining the cause of the accident. He had a reasonable expectation that he would be sued and that his statement would be shared with the defense lawyer retained to represent him in such suit. *Heidebrink*, 104 Wn.2d at 396. Statements made by the insured in this context are protected so as to encourage honesty and transparency as if the insured is speaking to its lawyer.

Similarly, in *Harris*, the insured receiving PIP benefits from his own auto insurer was required to submit to an IME so the insurer could determine whether he was entitled to further benefits. *Harris*, 152 Wn.2d at 488. The initial question of coverage was irrelevant, as it is here, because PIP is a no-fault coverage. The insured in *Harris* not only had a duty to cooperate by participating in the IME, but also was subject to the insurer's expectation that he would speak honestly to the IME doctor and provide accurate information. Because the IME was performed at the insurer's request in anticipation of litigation, and because the insured enjoyed an expectation of confidentiality in exchange for the expectation of honesty, the insurer (the holder of the immunity) invoked the work product protection, which prohibited the IME report and the IME doctor's testimony from being used against the insured in the liability case.

Ms. Diaz has conceded that honesty and accuracy were of no concern to her when the PIP application was prepared. In fact, Ms. Diaz now disagrees with the entire statement of the accident contained in the PIP application. The majority erroneously created and focused on an expectation of confidentiality that was not demonstrated to exist. The lower court therefore disregarded guidance of this Court's prior decisions.

D. The Court of Appeals' Decision Relaxes the Standard for Applying Work Product Protection in a way that Substantially Affects the Public Interest

As mentioned above, the majority makes no effort to show that the PIP application was prepared in anticipation of litigation, and instead

relies only on what it deemed to be Ms. Diaz's reasonable expectation that the application would be kept confidential. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4) because the majority's holding is different and substantially more relaxed than the long standing rule set forth in Washington cases, and because the scope of the work product protection is an issue of substantial public interest affecting the truth seeking process.

As the dissenting opinion below points out, "privileges are disfavored because they obstruct the truth seeking process and, for that reason, are narrowly construed." Dissent at 4. Even the attorney-client privilege is "not absolute, but is limited to the purpose for which it exists." *Dietz v. Doe*, 131 Wn.2d 835, 843, 935 P.2d 611 (1997). The majority has morphed the existing standard for work production protection – whether the document was prepared in anticipation of litigation — and relaxed it to anything in which a person claims an expectation of confidentiality. This new, relaxed standard not only conflicts with the decisions applying the proper standard, including *Heidebrink* and *Harris*, but also renders all other privileges superfluous as illustrated by *Maxon*, *infra*.

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