SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Court of Appeals properly decided this case on appeal in 

accordance with prior Washington precedent, and should not be subject to 

review, because it does not create a conflict with a decision of this Court 

or the courts of appeal. This case should not be granted review by the 

Washington Supreme Court, because the Court of Appeals correctly 

decided that the PIP application was work product and was improperly 

before the jury at trial, in accordance with prior Washington precedent in 

Heidibrink v. Moriwaki and Harris v. Drake. However, if the Court of 

Appeals decision should be reviewed, the other issues raised on appeal 

should also be reviewed. 

ARGUMENT AS TO WHY NO REVIEW IS NEEDED 

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Decided That a PIP 

Application Was Work Product, Due to the PIP Application 

Requirement Being Analogous to the Requirement to Submit to an 

IME in Harris v. Drake, and Analogous to Heidibrink v. Moriwaki, 

Where a Recorded Statement Was Deemed Work Product 

In considering whether to grant discretionary review, the Court 

considers the following factors: 

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 
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(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or 
(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of 
the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; 
or 
(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. 

RAP 13.4(b). 

The precedent set in Heidibrink v. Moriwaki and Harris v. Drake is 

clear, and the Court of Appeals applied it correctly to this case on appeal. 

A personal injury protection (PIP) application is a requirement under 

insurance contracts, or represented as a requirement, for PIP coverage, and 

may be deemed work product subject to confidentiality. Courts in the past 

have deemed documents produced and held by the first-party PIP 

insurance work product subject to confidentiality. See Heidibrink v. 

Moriwaki, 104 Wn.2d 392, 706 P.2d 212 (1985); see also Harris v. Drake, 

152 Wn.2d 480, 99 P.3d 872 (2004). In Heidibrink, the court reasoned 

that an insured who is contractually obligated to provide a statement about 

the injury-causing incident reasonably expects that it will be kept 

confidential, and taking the statements creates a reasonable expectation 

that the statements "will not be revealed to the opposing party." 

Heidibrink v. Moriwaki, 104 Wn.2d at 400. The Court reasoned that the 

best approach was to "look to the specific parties involved and the 

expectations of those parties," when applying the work product protections 
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of CR 26(b)(4), and also provided that this protection should comport with 

the underlying purpose of allowing broad discovery, "while maintaining 

certain restraints on bad faith, irrelevant and privileged inquiries ... " Id. at 

400. For those reasons, the Court specifically held that "a statement made 

by an insured to an insurer following an automobile accident is protected 

from discovery under CR 26(b)([4])." Heidibrink v. Moriwaki, 104 Wn.2d 

at 401. The Court further reasoned that such statements can only be 

disclosed when there is a showing of "substantial need," and a party 

merely looking for damaging admissions, especially when the other party 

is available to testify, does not meet that standard. See Heidibrink v. 

Moriwaki, 104 Wn.2d at 401-02. 

The expectation of confidentiality and work product protection 

applies in cases of liability coverage and personal injury protection 

coverage. The Court in Harris v. Drake extended this same expectation of 

confidentiality and work product protection from those who are "liability 

insured" to include those who are "PIP insured," reasoning that it is just as 

reasonable an expectation for a PIP insured to expect confidentiality as it 

is for a liability insured to expect confidentiality. See Harris v. Drake, 152 

Wn.2d 480,488, 99 P.3d 872 (2004). 

Moreover, Ms. Prieto's arguments are self-contradictory; arguing 

that the PIP application should not be subject to work product privilege, 
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and then arguing that admission of the PIP application was harmless error 

because it was cumulative. The Court in Heidibrink v. Moriwaki already 

specifically held that "a statement made by an insured to an insurer 

following an automobile accident is protected from discovery under CR 

26(b)([4])." Heidibrink v. Moriwaki, 104 Wn.2d 392, 401, 706 P.2d 212 

(1985). Her own argument that the narrative in the PIP application was 

cumulative undermines her argument that the PIP application should have 

been admitted, because there was no substantial need as there was already 

the substantial equivalent of the materials available by other means. The 

Court notes that several federal cases "interpreting the federal rule [FRCP 

26(b)(3)] indicate that the substantial need standard is not met if the 

discovering party merely wants to be sure nothing has been overlooked or 

hopes to unearth damaging admissions." Heidtbrink v. Moriwaki, 104 

Wn.2d at 401 ( citations omitted). The Court also reasons that " .. .in 

general there is no justification for discovery of the statement of a person 

contained in work product materials when the person is available for 

deposition." Heidibrink v. Moriwaki, 104 Wn.2d at 402. In concurrence, 

Harris v. Drake also provides that "CR 26(b )( 4) requires that work 

product can be obtained only upon a showing of necessity for one's case 

and an inability to acquire similar material elsewhere." Harris v. Drake, 

152 Wn.2d at 486 ( citations omitted). If Ms. Prieto is right, that the 
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information in the PIP application was cumulative, then it was error to 

admit the PIP application into evidence when it was work product. 

The Court of Appeals relied on well-established precedent and 

analyzed the facts of this case. The Court of Appeals analyzed the parties 

and their expectations in this case in coming to their conclusion. The 

Court of Appeals reasoned that, because Ms. Diaz had an obligation to fill 

out a PIP application to get PIP benefits for Brayan, she had a reasonable 

expectation that her PIP application would be kept confidential. Diaz v. 

Mariscal,_ Wn. App._, 414 P.3d 590, (No. 34671-4-III, p. 11) (Div. 

3 2018). The Court of Appeals further reasoned that it "would work an 

injustice to permit Ms. Prieto to surreptitiously obtain Ms. Diaz's PIP 

application and use it against Ms. Diaz simply because the two shared the 

same insurance company." Id. They went on to further opine that "the 

injustice is more pronounced given that the description of the accident in 

the PIP application was taken from a police officer's speculation, 

unsupported by any eyewitness, and inconsistent with the physical 

evidence." Id. This is consistent with the Court's opinion in Heidibrink v. 

Moriwaki where it specifically held that "a statement made by an insured 

to an insurer following an automobile accident is protected from discovery 

under CR 26(b)([4])." Heidibrink v. Moriwaki, 104 Wn.2d 392, 401, 706 

P.2d 212 (1985). It is also consistent with the Court's opinion that such 
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statements can only be disclosed when there is a showing of "substantial 

need," and a party merely looking for damaging admissions, especially 

when the other party is available to testify, does not meet that standard. 

See id. at 401-02. 

The ruling by the Court of Appeals does not give rise to any of the 

factors warranting discretionary review under RAP 13 .4(b ). Therefore, 

this Court should deny the petition for review. 

B. The Court Should Deny the Petition For Review Because the 

Decision of the Court of Appeals Does Not Raise A Significant 

Question of Law Under the State or Federal Constitution, Nor Does it 

Involve An Issue of Substantial Public Interest. 

The Court should deny the petition for review because the Court of 

Appeals ruling that a PIP application should be deemed work product is in 

accordance with the decisions in Heidibrink v. Moriwaki and Harris v. 

Drake, and does not raise a constitutional issue or substantial public 

interest concern. The Court may grant a petition for review where the 

decision below raises a significant constitutional question or a question of 

substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3-4). A decision may raise a 

question of substantial public interest where the ruling below has the 

potential to affect other matters and "invites unnecessary litigation on that 

point and creates confusion generally." State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 
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577, 122 P.3d 903, 904 (2005). Additionally, the Court will not consider 

facts unsupported by the record in a petition for review. Sherry v. Fin. 

Indem. Co., 160 Wn.2d 611, 615, n.1, 160 P.3d 31, 33 (2007). There is 

little, or no, support for review of the Court of Appeals' decision. 

ADDITIONAL ISSUES RAISED ON APPEAL, NOT RAISED IN 

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW, AND ARGUMENT 

After concluding that the trial court had committed reversible error 

in admitting the PIP application, the Court of Appeals stated that, "given 

our resolution of this issue, we need not consider Ms. Diaz's other claims 

of error." Diaz v. Mariscal,_ Wn. App._, 414 P.3d 590, (No. 34671-

4-III, p. 12) (Div. 3, 2018). In the event that the petition for review is 

granted, Plaintiff asks that the many other assignments of en-or made by 

Plaintiff on appeal also be addressed. 

Other issues were not decided on appeal because the Court of 

Appeals decided that use of the PIP application at trial was sufficient to 

prevent Plaintiff from having a fair trial. They did not address the 

insurmountable unfair prejudice presented by the large collection of en-ors 

made by the trial court in this case. The Court of Appeals specifically 

decided that "viewing the evidence as a whole, we believe that the 

improper admission of the PIP application was prejudicial." Diaz v. 

Mariscal,_ Wn. App._, 414 P.3d 590, (No. 34671-4-III, p. 12) (Div. 
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3, 2018). They go on to further decide that, "given [their] resolution of 

this issue, [they] need not consider Ms. Diaz's other claims of error." Diaz 

v. Mariscal,_ Wn. App._, 414 P.3d 590, (No. 34671-4-III, p. 12) 

(Div. 3, 2018). If this Petition for Review is granted, the other issues 

raised on appeal should also be reviewed or revisited. 

Issue 1 
Whether a statement in a first-party Personal Injury Protection 

(PIP) application, containing multiple levels of hearsay, written by a legal 

assistant, copied from hearsay contained in a police report, and not made 

by the injured person, should have been read to the jury and considered an 

admission under ER 801(d)(2). 

Issue 2 
Whether narratives in medical records, lacking indication as to the 

source of the narratives, are hearsay; and 

Whether the reading of the narratives within the medical records 

by defense counsel to the jury at trial was reversible error. 

Issue 3 
Whether a police report narrative which was not based on a 

witness's personal knowledge is considered hearsay; and 

Whether the reading into the record and referring to an unfounded 

police report at trial record is reversible error. 
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Issue 4 
Whether a defense expert's reference to speculative scenarios, 

contrary to the Court's order, was reversible error; and 

Whether allowing a defense expert to rely on and reference a 

police report based on a witness's speculation is reversible error; and 

Whether the defense expert's introduction and reference to 

speculative collision scenarios and reference to the speculative scenario in 

the police report, against the court's order, unfairly prejudiced Plaintiff at 

trial. 

Issue 5 
Whether the cumulative error doctrine applies and wan-ants 

reversal when several trial errors combine to deny Plaintiff a fair trial. 

CONCLUSION 

Plaintiff Monica Diaz Baniga Figueroa respectfully requests that 

this Court deny Defendant Consuelo Prieto Mariscal' s petition for review, 

as the Court of Appeals decided the case conectly, on the issues of the PIP 

application being admitted into evidence, based on well-established 

precedent. To the extent that the Petition for Review is not granted, this 

case will be remanded to the trial court, and all the remaining issues will 

be argued again at the trial court level, with an opportunity for the issues 
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to be decided c01Tectly and without error. This case should not be granted 

review, and should be remanded back to the trial court for a new trial.